#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### No. 24-166

SCA EFiled: Apr 19 2024 03:24PM EDT Transaction ID 72790243

CITY OF HUNTINGTON, WEST VIRGINIA, AND CABELL COUNTY COMMISSION, *Petitioners*,

v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION, CARDINAL HEALTH, INC., AND MCKESSON CORPORATION,

Respondents.

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Nos. 22-1819 & 22-1822

### **OPENING BRIEF FOR PETITIONERS**

Paul T. Farrell, Jr. (WVSB No. 7443) FARRELL & FULLER, LC 270 Muñoz Rivera Avenue Suite 201 San Juan, Puerto Rico 00918 (304) 654-8281 paul@farrellfuller.com *Counsel for Petitioners*

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case presents an application of West Virginia's common law of public nuisance to the ravages of the opioid epidemic. In Cabell County and Huntington ("Cabell/Huntington" or "Petitioners"), opioid addiction is widespread—afflicting more than 10% of the population. The crisis has fractured families and gutted neighborhoods. In a population of 100,000, more than a thousand people have died from opioid overdoses. Three opioid distributors—Respondents AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., Cardinal Health, Inc., and McKesson Corp.—provided 89% of the oxycodone shipped to Cabell/Huntington. They shipped more than 81 million opioids to Cabell/Huntington pharmacies, far beyond any medically justifiable need.

For many decades, this Court has recognized public nuisances in a variety of circumstances based on unreasonable conditions, created by defendants, that harm the public. A trilogy of key precedents—*Sharon Steel Corp. v. City of Fairmont*, 175 W.Va. 479, 334 S.E.2d 616 (1985); *Duff v. Morgantown Energy Assocs. (M.E.A.)*, 187 W.Va. 712, 421 S.E.2d 253 (1992) (per curiam); and *State ex rel. Smith v. Kermit Lumber & Pressure Treating Co.*, 200 W.Va. 221, 488 S.E.2d 901 (1997)—has defined a public nuisance broadly as "an act or condition that unlawfully operates to hurt or inconvenience an indefinite number of persons." *E.g., Kermit Lumber*, 200 W.Va. at 241, 488 S.E.2d at 921. Those precedents establish that a governmental entity can bring a nuisance action to have "harm which affects the public health and safety abated." *Id.* at 245, 488 S.E.2d at 925. And they describe nuisance as "a flexible area of the law that is adaptable to a wide variety of factual situations." *Sharon Steel*, 175 W.Va. at 483, 334 S.E.2d at 621.

Petitioners, tasked by the West Virginia Legislature with the power and duty to take appropriate and necessary actions to eliminate hazards to public health and safety and to abate or cause to be abated public nuisances, filed lawsuits seeking to abate the public nuisance that Respondents caused. Petitioners' cases were consolidated in federal district court. Following a bench trial, the court held that West Virginia public nuisance law does not recognize a claim for the unreasonable distribution practices that were a cause of the opioid crisis in Cabell/Huntington.

On appeal, the Fourth Circuit noted the broad language used by this Court in describing public nuisance. It also read the district court's decision as conflicting with the unanimous decisions of West Virginia trial courts, including the Mass Litigation Panel ("MLP"), that have recognized claims like Petitioners'. The panel certified to this Court the following question:

Under West Virginia's common law, can conditions caused by the distribution of a controlled substance constitute a public nuisance and, if so, what are the elements of such a public nuisance claim?

This Court should answer the first part of the certified question in the affirmative, and then expound on the elements as set forth in this brief, which draws from this Court's case law. West Virginia law defines public nuisance broadly to include conditions harmful to public health and safety. The conditions caused by Respondents' distribution of opioids—including addiction, overdose deaths, crime, and decimated neighborhoods—interfere with established public rights: public health, safety, property, and resources. Concluding that public nuisance encompasses governmental opioid claims accords with the holdings of West Virginia trial courts, the MLP, the federal court overseeing thousands of opioid suits, and the weight of judicial authority in other States.

The Court also should issue the following syllabus points, based on its precedents, to define the elements of a public nuisance claim arising from the distribution of a controlled substance:

- 1. Conditions caused by the distribution of a controlled substance constitute a public nuisance when they interfere with a public right, including public health and safety, by hurting or inconveniencing an indefinite number of persons.
- 2. Distribution of a controlled substance can support public nuisance liability if the distribution is unreasonable, either because it is unlawful or because it is unreasonable in relation to the particular locality involved.

- 3. A distributor of a controlled substance can be held liable for public nuisance if its distribution is a cause of the harmful conditions at issue.
- 4. Equitable remedies, including abatement, are appropriate to remediate a public nuisance caused by the distribution of a controlled substance.

These syllabus points will reaffirm the ability of governmental entities to abate conditions that interfere with public health and safety, caused by unreasonable conduct like Respondents'.

### **ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

The federal district court opined that West Virginia law does not recognize a public nuisance claim based on the distribution of a controlled substance. Petitioners maintain that the district court erred in reaching that conclusion, which also caused that court to err as to any subsidiary questions fairly encompassed within the Fourth Circuit's certification order.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Cabell/Huntington Are "Ground Zero" Of The Opioid Epidemic

The opioid epidemic represents "an extraordinary public health crisis" in Cabell/Huntington "that started at least two decades ago and has accelerated over the past decade."<sup>1</sup> West Virginia is "ground zero" of the national opioid epidemic, *Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 419, and Cabell/Huntington is "among the West Virginia communities hardest hit," Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. The opioid epidemic in Cabell/Huntington has harmed the public's health, safety, property, and resources. *See Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 484.

*Public health.* As of 2017, more than 10% of Huntington and Cabell residents had been or then were addicted to opioids. *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. In 2017, Cabell's fatal overdose rate was 213.9 per 100,000 people per year, or 14 times the national rate (15 per 100,000). *See* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> City of Huntington v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., 96 F.4th 642, 647 (4th Cir. 2024) ("Cert. Order") (quoting City of Huntington v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., 609 F. Supp. 3d 408, 419 (S.D. W.Va. 2022) ("Huntington")).

*id.*; JA4194. From 2001 to 2018, 1,002 individuals died from opioid-related overdoses in Cabell/Huntington. *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. Prescription opioids are the primary driver of addiction; once addicted, some people in Cabell/Huntington turned to illicit opioids like heroin and fentanyl. JA3098, JA3536-3541, JA3585, JA3632-3633, JA4138, JA6098. Prescription opioids remain "an ongoing and significant cause" of Cabell/Huntington overdose deaths. Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. Rates of infectious diseases associated with injection of illicit opioids—including HIV, Hepatitis B, and Hepatitis C—have increased rapidly and far exceed national averages. *See id.* 

The effects on public health institutions and resources have been profound. Hospitals in Cabell/Huntington have treated hundreds of pregnant women for opioid addiction, also called opioid use disorder. *See id.* Thousands of babies—at times, up to 10% of all newborns—in Cabell/Huntington have been born with neonatal abstinence syndrome due to pregnant mothers' opioid use. *See id.* West Virginia has the highest rate of neonatal abstinence syndrome in the country. *See Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 420. Cabell's rate reached nine times the national rate in 2016. *See* JA3555-3556.

*Public safety.* The opioid epidemic has harmed public safety in Cabell/Huntington. In the early 2000s, only "a small area" of Cabell/Huntington "had drug offenses." *Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 421. As the opioid epidemic grew, drug crimes intensified, becoming "prevalent throughout" the area by 2014 and "engulf[ing] every neighborhood" by 2016. *Id.*; *see also* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. The opioid epidemic threatened public safety to such an extent that people became "afraid to go [to Huntington], especially after dark." JA3438.

*Public property and resources.* Decreasing property values, abandoned homes, and unemployment decimated neighborhoods. *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647. Cabell County's sheriff testified that neighborhoods have hundreds of empty and "burnt out, tore up houses" and

that the area has "an addicted workforce" that "can't pass a drug test." JA3436-3437. The number of children placed in foster care has doubled, mostly due to parental substance abuse, straining child welfare agencies and resources. *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 647; *Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 420. Foster care entries increased so much that agencies could not meet the "demand for child placements." *Huntington*, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 420. The opioid crisis also has put an immense strain on public resources, such as emergency services, law enforcement, jails, and prisons. *E.g.*, JA3434-3435 (police departments had to search for funding to cover overtime pay).

#### **B.** Distributors Of Controlled Substances Have Important Diversion-Control Duties

Prescription opioids have "a high potential for abuse" that can lead to "severe psychological or physical dependence." 21 U.S.C. § 812(b)(2) (classifying prescription opioids as "Schedule II" controlled substances). Because their improper distribution and use has "a substantial and detrimental effect on the health and general welfare of the American people," *id.* § 801(2), federal law (and state analogs) regulates prescription opioids tightly at all stages of the supply chain. Congress enacted the Controlled Substances Act ("CSA") to control "legitimate and illegitimate traffic" with a particular concern for "the need to prevent the diversion of drugs from legitimate to illicit channels."<sup>2</sup> The CSA creates a "closed regulatory system" of distribution requiring all who manufacture, distribute, prescribe, or dispense controlled substances (including prescription opioids) to register with the Drug Enforcement Agency ("DEA"), the federal agency that enforces the CSA.<sup>3</sup> Distributors, including Respondents, ship orders of prescription opioids placed by pharmacies, which then dispense the opioids to consumers with prescriptions.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Gonzales v. Raich, 545 U.S. 1, 12 (2005). "Diversion" refers to the transfer of controlled substances "into other than legitimate medical, scientific, and industrial channels." 21 U.S.C. § 823(b)(1); see id. § 801(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Raich*, 545 U.S. at 13; *see* 21 U.S.C. §§ 822-823.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Huntington, 609 F. Supp. 3d at 421.

Distributors must comply with the CSA and its implementing regulations to prevent the diversion of controlled substances. All regulated entities in the supply chain, known as "registrants," must "provide effective controls and procedures to guard against . . . diversion of controlled substances." 21 C.F.R. § 1301.71(a).

Distributors must "design and operate a system" to prevent diversion. *Id.* § 1301.74(b). They must (1) identify suspicious orders, (2) report suspicious orders to DEA, and (3) investigate suspicious orders before shipping them, or else decline to ship. *See id.*<sup>5</sup> "Suspicious orders include orders of unusual size, orders deviating substantially from a normal pattern, and orders of unusual frequency." *Id.* The duty to investigate requires distributors to "exercise 'due diligence' before shipping any suspicious order,"<sup>6</sup> including contacting the pharmacy "to request an explanation" for the order's unusual characteristics and "verif[ying] that explanation."<sup>7</sup>

# C. Respondents Inundated Cabell/Huntington With Millions Of Pills Without Investigating Suspicious Orders

#### 1. Respondents violated their duties under the CSA

Respondents violated their diversion-control duties by failing to identify or block shipments of suspicious orders of opioids. Respondents admitted that, for years, they shipped suspicious orders without investigating them. JA3203, JA3221 (ABDC); JA2241-2243 (Cardinal); JA2223, JA3303, JA3312 (McKesson).

In 2005, DEA met with Respondents to convey the rising problem of opioid diversion and warned them that failing to maintain effective controls against diversion would create a crisis. JA3457-3458, JA3461, JA4688-4705. DEA sent Respondents letters reiterating their diversion-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See also Masters Pharm., Inc. v. DEA, 861 F.3d 206, 212-13 (D.C. Cir. 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Id.* at 221-22 (quoting *Southwood Pharms., Inc.,* 72 Fed. Reg. 36,487, 36,500 (DEA July 3, 2007)).

 $<sup>^{7}</sup>$  *Id.* at 218-19.

control duties and highlighting the "serious and growing health problem" of prescription drug abuse, stressing Respondents' "statutory responsibility to exercise due diligence to avoid filling suspicious orders that might be diverted into other than legitimate . . . channels." JA4612-4613.

Between 2006 and 2008, DEA brought enforcement actions against Respondents. In these actions, DEA told Respondents that their systems for identifying and stopping suspicious orders were insufficient and violated their statutory duties. JA6024-6025 (McKesson); JA3468, JA4347-4348 (ABDC); JA4650-4670 (Cardinal). Respondents settled these enforcement actions and agreed to improve diversion controls throughout their nationwide operations. JA4324, JA4410 (ABDC); JA6026-6028, JA6049-6050 (McKesson); JA3255-3257 (Cardinal).

But Respondents did not improve their practices. Instead, they shipped even greater quantities of opioids to Cabell/Huntington pharmacies. JA6638-6639 (ABDC); JA6644-6645 (Cardinal); JA6650-6651 (McKesson). Respondents used sales employees to conduct due diligence, even though Respondents compensated those workers based on how many opioids they sold. JA3217 (ABDC); JA3278, JA5895-5898 (Cardinal). McKesson applied looser policies to chain pharmacies like Rite Aid (which ordered more opioids), conducting little to no due diligence on their orders and allowing them to police themselves. JA2258-2259, JA2261-2264, JA3331-3332.

DEA took enforcement action again in 2012, suspending a Cardinal distribution center for distributing "egregious quantities" of opioids while "fail[ing] to conduct meaningful due diligence." JA4629-4631. Joseph Rannazzisi, head of DEA's Office of Diversion Control, testified that the allegations reflected "systemic failure." JA3471-3476. Cardinal settled, admitting that its diversion-control efforts were "inadequate." JA4618. In 2014, DEA warned McKesson that it "remain[ed] concerned that McKesson fail[ed] to appreciate the serious and systemic nature of the CSA-related problems that DEA has observed in its several investigations into [McKesson's] operations." JA4359. In 2017, McKesson agreed to pay \$150 million to resolve alleged CSA

violations at 12 distribution centers, including its facility supplying Cabell/Huntington. JA6620-6633.

## 2. Respondents delivered an unreasonable volume of opioids to Cabell/Huntington, including to pharmacies serving the region's most notorious prescribers

Respondents shipped tens of millions of opioids to Cabell/Huntington pharmacies, far beyond any medically justifiable need. From 1997 to 2018, they shipped at least 81.2 million dosage units of opioids to Cabell/Huntington, a community of only 100,000 people—an average of more than 40 opioid pills per person every year for 20 years. JA3146-3149, JA3163. Respondents shipped triple the per-capita rate to Cabell/Huntington compared with the rest of the country. JA6656. They supplied 89% of Cabell/Huntington's oxycodone, an opioid that caused more overdose deaths in West Virginia from 2001 to 2015 than any other. JA6070, JA6680.

Respondents supplied Cabell/Huntington's highest over-prescribers of opioids, including pharmacies and doctors that authorities eventually shut down. JA3229, JA6003-6004 (ABDC); JA4724, JA4741 (McKesson); JA3596-3597 (Cardinal). They shipped vast quantities of opioids to the pharmacies serving Cabell/Huntington's two highest over-prescribers: Dr. Deleno Webb and Dr. Philip Fisher, who ranked in the top 0.02% and 0.03%, respectively, of opioid prescribers *nationwide*. JA3593. Dr. Webb surrendered his medical license in 2017 after a state investigation into his excessive prescribing, and Dr. Fisher's license was suspended in 2011 following state investigations related to the deaths of at least seven of his patients. JA3606, JA3612-3614. Before losing their licenses, Drs. Webb and Fisher together prescribed more than 24 million dosage units of opioids in Cabell/Huntington, and Respondents supplied most of these pills. JA3600-3601, JA3603; *see* JA3229, JA6003-6004 (ABDC); JA4724, JA4741 (McKesson); JA3596-3597 (Cardinal).

# D. Equitable Remedies Are Appropriate To Abate The Public Nuisance Faced By Cabell/Huntington

The harms of the opioid epidemic in Cabell/Huntington can be abated. Epidemiologist Dr. Caleb Alexander, Cabell/Huntington's expert on abating the opioid epidemic, testified it would take 15 years to do so using four measures: (1) preventing new cases of opioid use disorder and further diversion; (2) treating people with opioid use disorder to reduce the risk of death, homelessness, unemployment, and other harms; (3) instituting recovery efforts, including drug courts, vocational training, and mental health counseling, to reduce opioid-related crime; and (4) intervening with special populations, including pregnant women, new mothers, post-incarcerated individuals, and children and families affected by the epidemic. JA3644, JA3651-3653, JA3656-3657, JA3659-3660, JA3662-3663, JA3668, JA3671-3672.

### E. Procedural History

#### 1. Huntington's and Cabell's federal opioid litigation

Exercising the authority granted by the West Virginia Legislature to take "appropriate and necessary actions for the elimination of hazards to public health and safety and to abate or cause to be abated anything . . . determine[d] to be a public nuisance,"<sup>8</sup> Huntington and Cabell filed these suits in 2017. *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 644; JA1862, JA1946. The federal Judicial Panel on Multidistrict Litigation transferred them to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Ohio under 28 U.S.C. § 1407(a), along with thousands of suits that other municipalities brought against opioid manufacturers, distributors, and dispensers (collectively, the federal opioid MDL). *See* Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 644 n.1; *In re Nat'l Prescription Opiate Litig.*, MDL No. 2804 (N.D. Ohio). After the MDL court directed Cabell/Huntington to streamline their claims to serve as a bellwether case, Cabell/Huntington "narrowed their claims to a public nuisance suit against the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> W.Va. Code § 7-1-3kk (county authority); *see id.* § 8-12-5(22) (municipal authority).

three distributor defendants." Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 644 n.1. On January 14, 2020, the MDL court remanded these cases to the Southern District of West Virginia (Judge Faber), which consolidated them for trial. *See id.* 

### 2. Parallel state opioid litigation

As this case proceeded through the MDL and federal pre-trial proceedings, parallel litigation by other West Virginia cities and counties proceeded against the same defendants for similar harms in West Virginia's circuit courts, following litigation by the State. In 2014, in *State ex rel. Morrisey v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp.*, a West Virginia court refused to dismiss the State's public nuisance claims against Respondents for their role in the opioid epidemic.<sup>9</sup> This Court declined review.<sup>10</sup> In 2018, in *Brooke County Commission v. Purdue Pharma L.P.*, another West Virginia court followed *Morrisey*, denying Respondents' motion to dismiss municipal public nuisance claims.<sup>11</sup> This Court again denied review.<sup>12</sup>

The MLP, composed of seven judges appointed by the Chief Justice, also handles more than 80 opioid cases brought by West Virginia governmental entities.<sup>13</sup> Its "function is to efficiently manage and resolve mass litigation, like the Opioid Litigation."<sup>14</sup> The MLP "has concluded in multiple instances that the distribution of opioids can form the basis of a public nuisance claim under West Virginia common law." Cert. Order, 96 F.4th at 649-50. In a 2019 decision by Judge Moats, then-Chair of the MLP, the MLP denied Respondents' motion to dismiss

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See 2014 WL 12814021, at \*8-9 & n.9 (W.Va. Cir. Ct. Dec. 12, 2014).

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