IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-166

SCA EFiled: May 20 2024 06:07PM EDT Transaction ID 73112322

CITY OF HUNTINGTON, WEST VIRGINIA, AND CABELL COUNTY COMMISSION, *Petitioners*,

v.

AMERISOURCEBERGEN DRUG CORPORATION, CARDINAL HEALTH, INC., AND MCKESSON CORPORATION,

Respondents.

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit, Nos. 22-1819 & 22-1822

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Steven R. Ruby (WVSB #10752) Raymond S. Franks II (WVSB #6523) CAREY DOUGLAS KESSLER & RUBY PLLC 901 Chase Tower, 707 Virginia Street, East Charleston, WV 25323 (304) 345-1234 sruby@cdkrlaw.com rfranks@cdkrlaw.com May 20, 2024

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

²⁶ "*Harm to public resources*. A public nuisance involving harm to a *natural* resource most often arises from contamination of waterways, as when a defendant spills toxic chemicals into the sea and thus causes economic injury to those who depend on it for commercial or recreational purposes."

²⁷ The testimony of Dr. Gupta quoted in footnotes 55 and 104 of Petitioner's Brief was not in this case; it was given in a different case, almost a year after the conclusion of the trial in this case.

no relevance here where the trial court found there was no evidence that Distributors caused any diversion and no evidence of any loss of public spaces or resources. Pet. Br. 22 & n.55 (citing Order Denying Kroger's Mot. to Dismiss ¶ 59, *State ex rel. Morrisey v. Kroger Co.*, No. 22-C-111 PNM (W.Va. M.L.P. Nov. 15, 2022) ("MLP Kroger MTD Order")).²⁸

D. The Restatement of Torts Are Consistent with West Virginia Law and Support the Trial Court's Ruling.

In reaching its conclusions about the limits of West Virginia public nuisance law, the trial court properly relied on both the Second Restatement, as adopted by this Court, and the more recent Third Restatement's explication of that standard. *See* JA7704. Comment g to Section 8 of the Third Restatement explains that liability for public nuisance based on products "has been rejected by most courts, and is excluded by [the Restatement], because the common law of public nuisance is an inapt vehicle for addressing the conduct at issue." Third Restatement § 8 cmt. g. "Mass harms caused by dangerous products are better addressed through the law of products liability, which has been developed and refined with sensitivity to the various policies at stake." *Id.* These principles are consistent with West Virginia law and support the trial court's ruling.

Plaintiffs point out that this Court has not yet referred to the Third Restatement, but the Court has consistently relied on the Second Restatement's definition of public nuisance, *see, e.g.*,

²⁸ The MLP's reliance on Dr. Gupta's testimony in a different case to deny the pharmacy's motion to dismiss was inappropriate under West Virginia Rule of Civil Procedure 12 and undermines confidence in the court's reasoning. *See* MLP Kroger MTD Order ¶ 59 (citing Tr. 447:17–21, 489:8–12, *In re Opioid Litig.: Mfr. Cases*, No. 21-C-9000-MFR (W.Va. M.L.P. Apr. 5, 2022) (testimony of Rahul Gupta, M.D.)). "This Court has long held that, in ruling on a motion made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, a court is limited to considering the facts properly alleged in the pleadings." *Riffle v. C.J. Hughes Constr. Co.*, 226 W. Va. 581, 587, 703 S.E.2d 552, 558 (2010). The MLP compounded this error in another case, again citing the same testimony to deny a motion to dismiss in a different case. *See* Order Denying Pharmacy Defs.' Mots. to Dismiss ¶ 67, *In re Opioid Litig.: Pharmacies Cases*, No. 21-C-9000-PHARM (W. Va. M.L.P. Aug. 3, 2022) ("MLP PHARM MTD Order").

Duff, 187 W. Va. at 716 n.6, 421 S.E.2d at 257 n.6, and the Third Restatement does not change that definition but rather explains and clarifies it, *see* Third Restatement § 8 cmt. a. The Restatement adopted this clarification due to "confusion about [the] scope" of the Second Restatement, including a misimpression that public nuisance law covers "anything injurious to public health and safety." *Id.* § 8 cmts. b, g.²⁹ That misimpression is precisely what Plaintiffs urge this Court to write into West Virginia law.

Plaintiffs argue that Section 8 addresses claims by private parties for economic harm, whereas they are local governments seeking "abatement." Pet. Br. 23. But as explained above, and the trial court found, that position ignores that what Plaintiffs are actually seeking is money, and only money. Plaintiffs also echo the Fourth Circuit's observation that "the text of [S]ection 8 expressly outlines the limits of its application by acknowledging that it applies to private suits, rather than to public nuisance claims brought by public officials." JA42. Yet the most important comment cited by the trial court—comment g to Section 8—clearly encompasses governmental suits. The Reporter's Note to comment g relies on several oft-cited governmental cases in support of the comment, making clear that the comment is not limited to private suits. *See* Third Restatement § 8 cmt. g, rep.'s note g (citing *Lead Indus.*, 951 A.2d 428, and *City of Chicago*, 821 N.E.2d 1099).

The scope of comment g is also evident from its broad language, including that "*the common law of public nuisance is an inapt vehicle for addressing the conduct at issue*," which draws no distinctions based on the nature of the plaintiff or the form of relief sought. *Id.* § 8

²⁹ The Second Restatement had earlier warned about the "loose connotation" of the word "nuisance" that had sometimes "crept into" court opinions, and it instructed that "[i]f the term is to have any definite legal significance, these cases must be completely disregarded." Second Restatement § 821A cmt. b.

cmt. g.³⁰ And while Plaintiffs cite an article by one of the legal scholar amici in support of their crabbed reading of comment g, Pet. Br. 24 n.62, that article elsewhere recognizes that "comment g to Section 8 contains broad language indicating a *categorical rejection* of the application of public nuisance to product-based harms." David A. Dana, *Public Nuisance Law when Politics Fails*, 83 Ohio St. L.J. 61, 97 n.175 (2022).³¹

E. The Majority of State Supreme Courts To Consider the Expansion of Public Nuisance to Products Have Rejected It.

Seven state supreme courts have considered the issue of whether public nuisance extends

to claims based on the distribution of products. Five of them rejected such an expansion of public

nuisance law.³²

Among those five is the only state supreme court decision to address the scope of public

nuisance in the opioid litigation-the Oklahoma Supreme Court's decision in Oklahoma ex rel.

Hunter v. Johnson & Johnson, 499 P.3d 719. After a full bench trial against an opioid

³⁰ Plaintiffs also point out that comment a to Section 8 states that public nuisance suits brought by governmental bodies often involve a "definition of 'public nuisance' [that is] widely a matter of statute, and tends to be considerably broader than the common-law definition recognized by this Section" Pet. Br. 23 n.60 (citing Third Restatement § 8 cmt. a). But this case is not based on any statute. Plaintiffs agree that the common-law definition of nuisance applies. Pet. Br. 1.

³¹ Plaintiffs assert that courts in other states have rejected the Third Restatement, Pet. Br. 25 n.73, but those cases did not address the provisions on which the trial court relied here, or even the same volume of the Restatement. *See Delaney v. Deere & Co.*, 999 P.2d 930, 935–36, 946 (Kan. 2000) (declining to adopt Restatement (Third) of Torts: Product Liability § 2 cmt. *l* (Am. Law. Inst. 1997)); *Tincher v. Omega Flex, Inc.*, 104 A.3d 328, 335 (Pa. 2014) (declining to adopt the Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability § 1 *et seq.*); *Potter v. Chicago Pneumatic Tool Co.*, 694 A.2d 1319, 1331–32 (Conn. 1997) (discussing Restatement (Third) of Torts: Products Liability § 2(b)).

³² See Ganim v. Smith & Wesson Corp., 780 A.2d 98, 131–32 (Conn. 2001); City of Chicago, 821 N.E.2d at 1116 (IL); In re Lead Paint Litig., 924 A.2d 484, 501–02 (N.J. 2007); Lead Indus., 951 A.2d at 456–57 (RI); Hunter, 499 P.3d at 730 (OK). The only outliers are City of Cincinnati v. Beretta U.S.A. Corp., 768 N.E.2d 1136 (Ohio 2002), and City of Gary ex rel. King v. Smith & Wesson Corp., 801 N.E.2d 1222 (Ind. 2003), both of which involved cities' suits against the firearms industry.

manufacturer and a judgment for the plaintiff, the Oklahoma court vacated the judgment and ruled that "public nuisance law does not extend to the manufacturing, marketing, and selling of prescription opioids." *Id.* at 721. That conclusion is not an "outlier," as Plaintiffs contend, Pet. Br. 28, but reflects the clear majority rule.

As support, the Oklahoma court cited a long list of public nuisance cases dating back to 1909, establishing that Oklahoma law (like West Virginia's) addresses the pollution of public resources and interference with public thoroughfares, not lawful products. 499 P.3d at 724 n.13. While Plaintiffs suggest that the Oklahoma court relied only on a historical interpretation of Oklahoma's nuisance statute, *see* Pet. Br. 28, that statute "codifie[d] the common law," and the court's decision relied heavily on both the Second and Third Restatement. *See* 499 P.3d at 724–26. Consistent with West Virginia law, the Oklahoma court recognized that "a public right is a right to . . . an indivisible resource . . . like air, water, or public rights-of-way," and that "[t]he manufacture and distribution of products rarely, if ever, causes a violation of a public right." *Id.* at 726–727 (alteration in original) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

In reasoning that applies equally here, the Oklahoma Supreme Court observed that "[t]he damages the State seeks are not for a communal injury but are instead more in line with a private tort action for individual injuries sustained from use of a lawful product." *Id.* at 727. The court also specifically rejected the argument—also advanced here—that there is a public right to public health. It wrote that "[t]his case does not involve a comparable incident to those in which we have anticipated that an injury to the public health would occur, e.g., diseased animals, pollution in drinking water, or the discharge of sewer on property." *Id.* That same conclusion applies here because the traditional scope of public nuisance law is no broader in West Virginia than in Oklahoma.

The trial court in this case also found persuasive the Oklahoma court's insight that extending public nuisance law to prescription opioids or other products "would allow courts to manage public policy matters that should be dealt with by the legislative and executive branches of government—not by courts." JA7707 (citing *Hunter*, 499 P.3d at 731). West Virginia has endorsed this principle in litigation related to climate change, arguing that public nuisance law should not apply because "[t]here are no judicially enforceable common law 'nuisance' standards to apply, or any practical limitation on the judicial policymaking role" with respect to large-scale social issues that are "more appropriately addressed by other branches of government."³³

Plaintiffs point to a number of opioid-related public nuisance decisions, Pet. Br. 18 & n.41, but these are primarily *unpublished* denials of *pretrial* motions issued with little to no reasoning. These rulings are among the "unsound" decisions resulting from "confusion" about the proper scope of public nuisance law. *See* Third Restatement § 8 cmt. b (citing cmt. g). They should be "completely disregarded." Second Restatement § 821A cmt. b. Many other courts around the country have correctly dismissed public nuisance claims against Distributors and other opioid medication supply-chain participants, including on the basis that public nuisance law does not extend to the distribution of products.³⁴

³³ Amicus Br. of Indiana and Fourteen Others States in Support of Dismissal, *California v. BP P.L.C.*, 2018 WL 1916332, at *10 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 19, 2018) (signed by Attorney General Morrissey on behalf of West Virginia).

³⁴ See North Dakota ex rel. Stenehjem v. Purdue Pharma L.P., 2019 WL 2245743, at *13 (N.D. Dist. Ct. May 10, 2019) (declining to extend the law of public nuisance "to cases involving the sale of goods"); South Dakota v. Purdue Pharma, L.P., 2021 WL 5873046, at *7–8 (S.D. Cir. Ct. Jan. 13, 2021) (same); Fayetteville Ark. Hosp. Co., LLC v. Amneal Pharm., No. 72CV-20-156, at *4 (Ark. Cir. Ct. Dec. 16, 2022) (dismissing public nuisance claim for failure to demonstrate interference with a cognizable public right); E. Me. Med. Ctr. v. Teva Pharms. USA, Inc., 2023 WL 2161256, at *6 (Me. Bus. Ct. Feb. 13, 2023) (dismissing public nuisance claim for failure to allege an "actionable public right in tort" or any non-derivative special injury); Alaska v. Walgreen Co., 2024 Alas. Trial Order LEXIS 1, at *6–8 (Alaska Super. Ct. Mar. 1, 2024) (dismissing public

F. The West Virginia Lower Court Decisions on Which Plaintiffs Rely Are Not Persuasive.

Plaintiffs place substantial weight on decisions by lower courts of this State denying various pretrial motions in opioid cases. These decisions were not reviewed by this Court and do not accurately reflect West Virginia law.³⁵

Most of these decisions came before the trial court's decision. The trial court considered them and found them "not persuasive" and "inconsistent with the Restatement of Torts that has been favorably commented upon by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals." JA7706. Addressing the first two of these cases, *Brooke County* and *Morrisey*,³⁶ the trial court concluded that "neither case contained an in-depth consideration of the question" or "considered the adverse economic consequences of extending the law of nuisance to the sale or distribution of opioids or the expansion of nuisance law to cover other dangerous products." *Id*.³⁷ Neither case identified

nuisance claim for failure to demonstrate interference with a cognizable public right); *Michigan ex rel. Nessel v. Cardinal Health, Inc.*, 2020 Mich. Cir. LEXIS 1796, at *13–15 (Mich. Cir. Ct. Jan. 22, 2021) (dismissing public nuisance claim for failure to allege that defendants controlled the instrumentality of the nuisance); *Delaware ex rel. Jennings v. Purdue Pharma L.P.*, 2019 WL 446382, at *13 (Del. Super. Ct. Feb. 4, 2019) (dismissing public nuisance claim for failure to allege a cognizable public right or that defendants controlled the instrumentality of the nuisance); *City of New Haven v. Purdue Pharma. L.P.*, 2019 WL 423990, at *2–6 (Conn. Super Ct. Jan. 8, 2019) (dismissing public nuisance claim for failure to allege proximate causation).

³⁵ Plaintiffs suggest that some of these trial court decisions should have more weight because this Court denied discretionary petitions for review or writs of prohibition. Pet. Br. 18. But those denials of discretionary review have no precedential value. *State ex rel. Miller v. Stone*, 216 W. Va. 379, 382 n.3, 607 S.E.2d 485, 488 n. 3 (2004) (per curiam); *Perrine v. E.I. du Pont de Nemours & Co.*, 225 W. Va. 482, 521 n.45, 694 S.E.2d 815, 854 n.45 (2010).

³⁶ Brooke Cnty. Comm'n v. Purdue Pharma, L.P., 2018 WL 11242293 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Dec. 28, 2018); State ex rel. Morrisey v. AmerisourceBergen Drug Corp., 2014 WL 12814021 (W. Va. Cir. Ct. Dec. 12, 2014).

³⁷ After the *Brooke County* decision by Judge Hummel, that case and others similar cases were transferred to the MLP by order of the Chief Justice. The MLP then entered an order deeming Judge Hummel's *Brooke County* motion-to-dismiss decision to be "law of the case" and barring Distributors from re-raising their public nuisance argument in motions to dismiss in any of the

any decision of this Court applying public nuisance law to the distribution of a lawful product, nor could they.³⁸ The *Morrisey* decision also predated the promulgation of the relevant portion of the Third Restatement, and both these decisions predated the Oklahoma Supreme Court decision in *Hunter*. Both cases fit the description of "unsound" decisions caused by the erroneous view that public nuisance law extends to "anything injurious to public health and safety," which the Restatement has now explained is incorrect. Third Restatement § 8 cmt. b (citing cmt. g).

Plaintiffs also cite several decisions of the MLP denying motions to dismiss and summary judgment. Pet. Br. 17–18. Those MLP orders were largely based on the *Brooke County* and *Morrisey* decisions that the trial court found "not persuasive," "inconsistent with the Restatement of Torts," and devoid of meaningful reasoning. JA7706. These MLP decisions, too, failed to recognize the proper limits of public nuisance. *See* Third Restatement § 8 cmts. b, g. The MLP's opinion denying Distributors' summary judgment motion missed the point in stating that West Virginia public nuisance law is not "limited to claims arising out of the use of property"— something Distributors have not argued. Order Denying Defs.' MSJ re "Factual Issue #2," at 3, *In re Opioid Litig.*, No. 21-C-9000 DISTRIBUTOR (W. Va. M.L.P. July 1, 2022) ("MLP Distributors MSJ"). The MLP also declined to follow *Hunter* on the ground that Oklahoma law is "not equivalent to West Virginia law," but it provided no examples of any differences. *Id.* at 6. It

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